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REPORT OF THE COUNCIL OF MANAGEMENT
AND OF THE DIRECTOR FOR 1954

THE Institute’s sixth year was also the opening year of an exceptionally important
excavation : Beycesultan, described in the previous report as a promising site, has
become the scene of a notable and successful campaign. There can now be no
doubt that it is of major importance ; that the palaces and its city, besides being in
themselves arresting, will, in future seasons, throw yet more light on a new culture
in lands where evidence of contact between the Hittites and the West has long been
desired. Readers of The Times will be familiar with what was discovered, but a
summarized report appears in the following pages and a fuller one will be pub-
lished in Anatolian Studies, Vol. V. Plans for work on Islamic remains at Harran
were, as subscribers will recall, left in abeyance during 1954 owing to the absence
of Dr. Storm Rice in America. Study of the Assyrian texts from Sultantepe is
still in progress, and a further interesting instalment is being prepared for publica-
tion, to follow what has appeared in Anatolian Studies, Vol. IV.

CouNncit. oF MANAGEMENT :

No retirements have taken place, but the death of Professor Frankfort has left
a gap in the Council which it will be hard to fill. He was one of those rare scholars
whose knowledge is both wide and deep. His field-work in Iraq was masterly ;
his publications interpreted his own discoveries and those of others in relation to art,
mythology, and sociology ; his approach was vivid and original but always well
documented. To his colleagues of the British Institute at Ankara, his stimulating
personality and his friendly sympathy were invaluable. It is a pleasure to recall
that he visited the hostel, and that his interest in Anatolia dates back to one of his
first publications, Studies in Early Pottery of the Near East.

The Council is happy to add to its members Mrs. Maxwell-Hyslop and Mr. Ian
Macpherson.

LEcTUrEs IN LONDON :

It was a special pleasure to welcome a distinguished Turkish colleague, Professor
Bahadir Alkim, as lecturer this spring, and a privilege to hear his interesting account
of the excavations at Karatepe. The Director himself spoke at the Annual General
Meeting of the Institute’s work at Alanya, while a third lecture by Dr." Picken,
arranged in conjunction with the Royal Asiatic Society, marked a new departure.
It was on Turkish folk-music, examples of which were played to the audience.
The titles of these three lectures were as follows :—

Alanya : Sea Fortress of the Seljuk Turks : By Mr. Seton Lloyd, on 22nd January,
1954.

Local Musics in Anatolia : By Dr. L. E. R. Picken, on 11th March, 1954, in
conjunction with the Royal Asiatic Society.

The Archeological Results of the Excavations at Karatepe (1947-1953) : By Dr. U.
Bahadir Alkim, on 7th May, 1954.

PUBLICATIONS :

Anatolian Studies, Vol. IV, now in subscribers’ hands, is considerably fuller than
previous volumes, reflecting the increase of research covered by the Director,

Fellows, and Students, and its varied scope will be carried forward in the succeeding
volume.

FINANCE :

The finances of the Institute are not yet sufficently strong to be able to carry
any but a small part of the excavation programme. For this to continue we are
dependent on the special support of individuals and bodies ; and this has in the
past been generously given, and in particular by Sir David Russell, without whose

3



4 ANATOLIAN STUDIES

contributions, indeed, our activities in the ficld would have been gravely handi-
capped. From the amounts we have been able ourselves to allocate towards next
year’s work at Beycesultan, and from some most welcome promises, we sec our way
to covering the bulk of the year’s programme, but we still need somcthing of the
order of £1,000. The great interest and importance of this work is stressed elsewhere.

LiBRARY :

The effect of the rise in the rent paid by the Institute has been felt this year in
the Library, the grant for which has been cut by £100. Nevertheless, more than
forty items have been purchased, including Schliemann, Briefwechsel 1842-75, ed.
by E. Meyer (1950) ; Bechtel, Die Historischen Personennamen des Griechischen bis zur
Kaiserzeit (1917) ; Grabar, Byzantine Painting (1953) ; Kjellberg, Larissa am Hermos
IT; Boehlau and Schefold, Larissa am Hermos 1II (1942) ; Mommsen, Der Maxi-
maltarif Diocletians (1893) ; Chantre, Recherches Anthropologiques dans le Caucase
(1886—7) vols. 1-3 ; Pauly-Wissowa’s great encyclopaedia in reprinted form is now
completed. The Library catalogue has now registered over 2,180 items, and though
far from complete, represents an efficient working instrument for the study of ancient
Anatolia, particularly if allowance is made for the short time the Institute has existed.
We owe much to the generosity of donors in this, as in past years. Gifts include :—

FroM THE AUTHORS :

Dr. H. Gollob, Die internationale archaische Trinitas (Vienna 1953).

Lord Kinross, Within the Taurus (1954).

P. Dikaios, Guide to the Cyprus Museum (revised ed., 1953).

L. Robert, La Sanctuaire d’ Artemis @ Amyzon (1953).

N. E. Vrouyr, Inscriptions Ourartéennes (Antwerp 1953).

Steven Runciman, 4 History of the Crusades, vol. I11 (1954).

From Russell Meiggs, Esq.: T. L. Shear: Sardis X, pt. I (1926), and H. C.
Butler, Sardis I, pt. I (1922).

From Mme. G. de Gsippek, Istanbul (1953) and Ganakkale (1953).

From Miss Melton, Hotel Guide of Turkey (1953) and Guide to Greece (1954).

From Mr. Mauduit, Munim Eser, Encyclopaedic Guide to Istanbul, Bursa and
Yalova (1954) ; Vasif Okgugil, Yeni Tiirkge-Ingilizce Okul Ligati (1945).

From Turkish Press Department, Guides to Ephesus, Pergamum and Izmir (1953).

For various offprints, thanks are due to M. L. Robert, Mr. and Mrs. R. L.
Braidwood, Dr. J. B. Segal, Mr. M. H. Ballance, Professors H. G. Giiterbock, S. N.
Kramer and A. Goetze, Bay Nezih Firatli, and Dr. Stapleton.

BEYCESULTAN :
Summary of First Year’s Work :

Beycesultan, evidently the capital of an important province in antiquity, is
situated near a river crossing on the upper Meander, and covers about two-thirds
of amile. Within the city stood a vast palace now partly uncovered, built, apparently,
in the latter half of the fifteenth century B.c., and destroyed by fire in the earlier
half of the fourteenth. Architecturally it is remarkable, for it contains a sunk
‘“ lustral area , light wells, staircases, long parallel galleries, traces of fresco on the
walls, and great store-jars. Some of these features recall the palaces of Crete, while
a novel feature is the way the court is suspended on beams over sleeper walls.

Subsequently a smaller palace was constructed and twice remodelled, perishing
through fire at the end of its second phase, perhaps about 1225 B.C., and finally
sacked not long afterwards.

Contemporary with the smaller palace were certain private houses and some
shops which stood beyond a paved street. One shop was equipped with store-jars,
and stocked with pottery and grain. Another evidently sold wine, since it contained
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vats, a bar, drinking utensils, and knuckle-bones presumably for sport. But
disaster had overtaken the customers, seven men and onc woman, whose bodies
lay distorted on the floor.

Characteristic of much of the pottery is a tendency to imitate metalwork.
A slip, suggestive of gold, silver, or bronze, brightened the surfaces, while the shapes
included bifoil, trefoil, or quatrefoil vessels and elegant chalices. The only im-
ported wares so far identified are a few late Mycenaean III B sherds from the
Little Palace.

If Beycesultan is, as seems probable, a centre of Arzawan culture and thus a
representative of the civilization which challenged Hittite domination, its periods
of prosperity and disaster can be equated with historical events, on the lines suggested
in The Times of 24th September. And, apart from the claims of history or the
demands of a new distinctive culture, Beycesultan now offers for further exploration
its great town and the first grand palace of its period yet discovered on Anatolian
soil north of the Taurus.

The following is an account of the administrative aspect of the excavations.
In April, the Director, accompanied by Mr. and Mrs. Mellaart, paid a preliminary
visit to the site, in order to establish contact with the local authorities, find accom-
modation for the expedition and make arrangements for obtaining local labour.
Much help and kindness was encountered on all sides. A peasant’s house was rented
in the village of Mentes, about a' mile from the site, where, by the generosity of the
Vali of Denizli, permission was obtained to use the small primary school as museum
and workshop. Supplemented by tents, living- and working-space was thus
assured. Meanwhile, in Ankara, skilled workmen, known to the Institute from
previous excavations, were engaged and additional help obtained from Gordium,
where the work of the Pennsylvania expedition was temporarily suspended. A
good cook and a reliable driver were at the same time engaged and, through the
kindness of Prof. Dr. Tahsin Ozgiig, the expedition was fortunate in obtaining
the services of a first-rate foreman, Satilmig Saygisiz.

As a result of these precautions, the administration and practical functions of
the expedition proceeded smoothly. The small permanent staff consisted of Mr. J.
Mellaart, as senior field-assistant, Mrs. Arlette Mellaart who undertook the house-
keeping, accountancy and registration of objects, Mr. G. R. H. Wright as architect
and surveyor, Mrs. Wright and Mr. C. Burney as general assistants. Two senior
Council members, Professor W. M. Calder and Mr. R. D. Barnett each joined the
expedition for some weeks and used the camp as a centre for archaeological work
in the Civril neighbourhood. Their advice and support were of considerable value
to the Director. Bay Lutfi Tugril, who had been appointed Turkish commissar,
was also a welcome member of the expedition. His tact and good sense in handling
practical matters were greatly appreciated. The scason chosen was one when
agricultural work was temporarily in abeyance, and unskilled labour was not
difficult to come by. By the first week in July, however, when the season ended,
the harvest had begun and the prolongation of work would have been 1mp0551blc
Arrangements were then made to guard the site and two rooms were rented in the
village, where equipment could be stored, pending a resumption of the excavations
in the coming year.

We are deeply grateful for the following donations received in support of the
excavation at Beycesultan last season (1954) :—

Walker Trust, per Sir David Russell . . £1,000 0 o
Craven Fund Committee, Oxford . . . £100 0o o
Griffith Institute, Oxford . . . . £100 0 o
Wenner-Gren Foundauon, N.Y. . . . $300.00
Francis Neilson, Esq. . . . £50 o o
Society of Anthuames of London . . . £50 o o

Charrington and Co., Ltd. . . . . L0 o o
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and for a Leverhulme Research Award of £300, a personal grant to the Director
for the excavations.

ANKARA :

During this season, sixteen students and senior students were registered and
visited Turkey for purposes of research. The hostel accommodation was continually
in use, except for a short period during the Beycesultan excavations, when the
opportunity was taken of having the house redecorated. Activity in. the Institute
diminished during August, but was again considerable during the autumn months.
An unusual number of archaeological expeditions had been in progress during the
current season and many foreign colleagues visited the British establishment, to
use the library and discuss their discoveries.

In view of the very high rent of the Ankara premises, the Council had considered
the possibility of raising a mortgage in order to purchase the freehold of the property.
Discussions on these lines in Ankara have now shown that the values of real estate
in Turkey being at present considerably inflated, the purchasing price would be
beyond the means of the Institute. The present lease will last until the end of 1955 ;
and as it appears probable that a new adjustment in local legislation may by then
result in an even higher rent being authorized, it seems probable that new accom-
modation for the Institute will have to be sought in a district further from the
centre of the town, where land-values are less high.

Activities of Senior Students, Students, and others :

Professor W. M. Calder spent May and June in Turkey, engaged in epigraphical
work connected with the revision and republication of Anderson’s Classical Map.
He was accompanied by Mr. Michael Ballance, (Institute Fellow for 1953-54),
with whom he travelled to various parts of the country, occasionally using the
Beycesultan camp or the Ankara headquarters as a base.

Mr. R. D. Barnett, Deputy Keeper of Egyptian and Assyrian Antiquities of the
British Museum, after spending some time in Ankara, also joined the Beycesultan
expedition for several weeks and was able to make some epigraphic discoveries in
the Civril Valley.

Dr. W. H. C. Frend, Lecturer on Church History at Cambridge University,
spent parts of August and September at the Institute in Ankara and travelling in
Lycaonia in connection with his specialised researches in early Christian epigraphy.
He reported a number of important new texts.

Dr. 0. R. Gurney, Shillito Reader in Assyriology at Oxford University, spent
three autumn months at the Institute in Ankara, where he continued copying
literary texts among the Sultantepe tablets in the Ankara Museum. These included
a new fable of a type hitherto unknown in Assyrian literature. Dr. Gurney was
assisted by a Leverhulme Grant.

Mr. 7. B. Beckwith, Assistant Keeper of Textiles at the Victoria and Albert
Museum, was registered as a Senior Student during a visit to Turkey in connection
with research for which he also had received a Leverhulme Grant.

Mr. and Mrs. Fames Mellaart took part in the Beycesultan Excavations and after-
wards assisted Mr. Sinclair Hood in the Athens School excavations on the island
of Chios. They returned to the Institute in Ankara for a period of two months in
the autumn during which Mr. Mellaart aided the Director in preparing the pre-
liminary report on the Beycesultan excavations. During October he also took
part in a short reconnaissance connected with his earlier survey of the Konya
plain. During December he is to assist Prof. K. Bittel in the excavations which are
to be resumed at Fikirtepe, near Istanbul.

Mr. Charles Burney (Institute Scholar for 1954-55), arrived in Turkey from
Palestine in April. He took part in the Beycesultan excavations, after which he
undertook a mound-survey, covering an area approximating to the ancient province
of Bithynia. Travelling mostly by bicycle, he made a thorough investigation, over
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a period of more than three months. The pottery notes and distribution maps
prepared after his return to Ankara in the autumn should fill an important gap in
our knowledge of northwestern Turkey. After leaving Turkey, arrangements were
made for Mr. Burney to continue his archaeological studies at the British School
in Baghdad.

Mr. G. R. H. Wright was employed as architect and surveyor during the ex-
cavation at Beycesultan. He afterwards travelled to Cyrenaica where he was due
to take part in excavations organized by the Griffith Institute near Benghazi.

Mr. Anthony Mauduit, a graduate of the London Architectural Association,
was afforded Student facilities for the purpose of studies connected with an I.C.I.
Travelling Studentship. Permission was obtained for him to visit architectural
monuments in the protected zone cast of the Euphrates, and he spent some weeks
in July and August making drawings and photographs of Seljuk and other buildings.
It is hoped that later in the year an exhibition of his work will be arranged at the
Association headquarters in Bedford Square.

Other individuals afforded Student privileges for the purpose of research in
Turkey included Miss D. Hereward, Assistant Lecturer in Classics, Royal Holloway
College, Mr. D. B. Stronach, King’s College, Cambridge, and Muss Linda Melton.

WaALKER TRUST EXCAVATIONS :.

Work on behalf of the Walker Trust (St. Andrews) on the site of the Great
Palace of the Byzantine Emperors at Constantinople was continued in June, July,
and August, under the direction of Professor D. Talbot Rice, with Mr. David Oates
as Assistant Director. Mr. David Stronach and Mr. David Wilson joined the staff
as assistants, and Mr. Geoffrey Clark was there as architect. Mr. Ward Perkins,
Director of the British School at Rome, was also present for some weeks, working
on the history of constructional methods.

A few additional pieces of the mosaic floor were unearthed and lifted, as they
were situated below a street. Several pits, to check evidence as to dating by means
of stratigraphy were dug, but work was in the main concentrated on a large hole
from surface to natural soil in the region of the great stone structure found in 1952.
Some of the immense piers and vaults of this structure were laid bare, and a full and
detailed study was made, which disclosed a number of successive building periods.
At the request of the Director of the Archacological Museum, this excavation has
been left open, so that the structures may be inspected by delegates during the
forthcoming congress of Byzantine Studies at Istanbul in September, 1955. Natural
soil was reached at a depth of about 6o feet below the surface.

Without extending the excavations over areas now built upon, all has been
done on this site that is possible. The next task is that of publication, and it is hoped
that a final report on the Great Palace Excavations and on the mosaic will be ready
for press during 1955.

EpinBurcH UNIVERSITY BoranicaL EXPEDITION :

It was arranged that this expedition, led by Professor Peter Davis, should use
the Ankara Institute as a base, while operating in the remote eastern provinces of
Van and Hakkari, during June-September. The party which included Mr. O.
Polunin and a Turkish interpretor, Bay Aydin Bilgutay, passed through Ankara on
their return journey, when it was understood that the scientific results had exceeded
all expectations. The journey had been made in the Landrover car, purchased
some time before by the University of Edinburgh, and this car afterwards remained
at the Institute in Ankara for the use of members of the University working in
Turkey in future seasons.
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ANNUAL REPORT

SUBSCRIPTIONS RECEIVED DURING THE YEAR ENDING MARCH 31sT, 1954.

University of Arkansas (for ’53 and ’54)
Basel (for ’52 and ’53) .
gummgham -

onn (for ’53 an
California >3 . 54)
Cambridge .
. Cincinnati (for 51— 54)
Durham
Edinburgh
Glasgow
Goteberg
_{ghns Hopl}ms (for 52 and 53)
entucky (for 51, 52, and ’ )
Lo ( 53

leerpool
London .
Louvain
Manchester, Victoria .
Melbourne (for 52, and 53) .
Michigan (for 52, °53 and 54)
Missouri (for ’53 and 54)
New Mexico
New York
Otago .
Oxford .
Princeton
Reading
St. Andrcws (for 51—- 54)
Sheffield.
Sydney (for ’ 53 and 54)
Washington .
Wisconsin (for 51, 52, and 53)
Yale .
All Souls’ College, Oxford -
Ashmolean Museum lerary, Oxford
Balliol College, Oxford (for ’53 and 54)
Birmingham Public Libraries .
Brasenose College, Oxford .
Bryn Mawr College, Penn. (for’ 51-— 54)
Detroxt Public Library .
Downing College, Cambrxdge
Exeter College, Oxford .
Gonville and Caius College, Cambndgc
Havard University Dumbarton Oaks Research lerary (for 51, ’52, and 53)
Havard University Peabody Museum Library (for ’51, 52, and 53)
Institute of Archaeology, University of London .
Jesus College, Cambridge . .
Jesus College, Oxford . . . . .
King’s College, Cambridge . . .
Lincoln College, Oxford
Los Angeles Public Library (for 51- 54)
Michigan State College bera.ry (for * 51- 53)
National Library of Wales (for 52 and 53)
New College, Oxford
New York Public Library
Newnham College, Cambridge
Oriel College, Oxford .
Peterhouse College, Cambridge
Queen’s College, Oxford .
Royal Numismatic Society .
St. John s College, Cambridge . .
School of Oriental and Afncan Studies, Un1vcrs1ty of London .
School of Oriental and African Studies berary . .
Sidney Sussex College, Cambridge
Trinity College, Cambridge
Trinity College, Oxford .
University College London lerary
University College, Oxford .
Victoria and Albert Museum Library
Warburg Institute Library .

£
3
3
15
3
1
50
6
25
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12 ANATOLIAN STUDIES

Albertini, J. H.

Alkim, Dr. U. Bahadir

Allen, W. E. D. .

Amiran, Mrs. R. B. K.

Anderson, J. K.

Appleyard Miss B. (for 52 and 53)
Arthur, G. C.

Aulock, H. S. von (for 52 and 53)
Ballance, M. H.

Barnett, G. W. T.

Barnett, R. D.

Battersby, H. R. (for 52 and 53)
Bean, G. E.

Beaudoin, K. L.

*Beaver, Sir H. E. c’

Benda, J. .

Berenson, B.

Bibby, T. G. .

Boasc, Prof. T. S. R
Bonham-Carter, Lady C.

Bossert, Prof. H. T. (for 52 and 53)
Bowen,H C. .

Brice, W. C. .

*Brink, Prof. C. O.

*Brock, J. K. .

*Burn, A R.

*Caldcr Prof. W M

*Cary, Prof. M.

Childe, Prof. V. G.

Cook, Mrs. E. M.

Cook, J. M. .

Coole, Miss R. D.

Corbett, G. U. S.

Craig, Mrs. B.D. .

Crastin, A. (for 51-'53)
Crossland, R. A

Dossin, Prof. G. (for 52 and 53)
Dugdale,j R. S. (for 53 and 54.)
Dunbabin, T. J.

Everett, M. H. S.

kaelstem, Dr. J.J. ('for 53 and 54)

Forbes, Major H. S.
Foster, L. J. C.
*Frankfort, Prof. H.
Frend, W. H. C.
Gadd, Dr. C. J.
Gallachér, E. R. .
Garrod, Prof. D. A, E.
*Garstang, Prof. J.
*Gelling, .
Gibb, Slr Alcxander .
Goetze, Prof A. (for’ 51— 54)
Good, L. T
"Gough M.R.E .
*Gough, Mrs. D. M. .
Grange, F. F. de la
Grant, J. A. .
Grant, Prof. M.
Gray, Miss D. H. F..
Gray, E. W, .
*Gurney, Dr. O. R.
Hall, Miss M. L.
Harden, D. B.
Harding, C. L. .
Hill, A. D. (for 53 and 54) .
Hone, Mrs. M. .
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*Hood, M. S. F.
Hopper, R. J. .
Horn, Prof. S. H.
*Hulin, P.. .
Ingholt, H.
Isserlin, B. S. J.
*Jarvis, C. E.
Jenkins, Prof R. J- H.
Kalag, Dr. M. .
Kampman, Dr. A. A.
Kenyon, Miss K. M.
Kohler, Miss E. .
Koopman, Mrs. C. van H.
and ’54) .
Lamb, Miss W. .
Lawrencc, Prof. A. W.
Lawrence, Mrs. B. 1..
*Levy, Miss G. R. .
Macnaughten, R. D.
*Macpherson, I. W. .
Mallowan, Prof. M. E. L.
Mance, Br1g -Gen. Sir H. O.
Mauduit, A. W. .
Maxwell-Hyslop, Mrs.
Mellaart, J.
Melton, Miss L.
Mundy, Dr. C. S. .
Myres, Prof. Sir J. L.
Nute, Dr. W. . .
Oates, E. E. D. M.
Okyar, O. .
Parkhouse, R. J.
*Phythian-Adams, Canon W. J.
Pietromarchi,
and '54) .
*Pratt, F. J. T.
Reisiger, J. H. .
*Rice, Dr. D. S. .
*Rice, Prof. D. Talbot
Richter, Miss G. M.
Robertson Prof. D. S.
Robinson, R. D. (for 52 and’ 53)
Rowton, Major M. B
*Runciman, The Hon. Steven
Rushworth E.
Scott, M. (for 53 and 54.)
*Segal, Dr. J. B .
Seton-lehams, Miss V .
Speiser, Prof. E. A. (for 53 and 54)
Stapleton, Dr. H. E
Stark, Mrs. Freya
Stemherr, Dr. F. (for ’52 and 53)
Stewart, J. R. . .
Streater, J. S. (for’ 52 and 53)
*Syme, Prof. R.
*Taylor, Miss J. du Plat
Thorburn, P.
Tomlin, W. F..
Toynbee, Prof. A.
*Toynbee, Prof. J. M. C.
Vieyra, M. A. M.
*Willans, J. B.
Wilson, D. R. .
Woodward, A. M. .
*Woolley, Sir Leonard

* Covenanted subscription.

(for ’53
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